
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations

Online at http://www.iisd.ca/climate/ccwg5/

AWGs
#5

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)Vol. 12 No. 401 Thursday, 2 April 2009

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by María Gutiérrez, Ph.D., Kati Kulovesi, Ph.D., Kelly Levin, Miquel Muñoz, Ph.D., 
and Yulia Yamineva. The Digital Editor is Leila Mead. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org>. The Director of IISD Reporting Services is Langston James 
“Kimo” Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the United Kingdom (through the Department for International Development – DFID), the 
Government of the United States of America (through the Department of State Bureau of Oceans and International Environmental and Scientific Affairs), the Government 
of Canada (through CIDA), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ), the German Federal 
Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety (BMU), the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the European Commission (DG-ENV), and the 
Italian Ministry for the Environment, Land and Sea. General Support for the Bulletin during 2009 is provided by the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government 
of Australia, the Austrian Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry, Environment and Water Management, the Ministry of Environment of Sweden, the New Zealand Ministry 
of Foreign Affairs and Trade, SWAN International, Swiss Federal Office for the Environment (FOEN), the Finnish Ministry for Foreign Affairs, the Japanese Ministry of 
Environment (through the Institute for Global Environmental Strategies - IGES), the Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (through the Global Industrial and 
Social Progress Research Institute - GISPRI), the Government of Iceland, and the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). Funding for translation of the Bulletin 
into French has been provided by the International Organization of the Francophonie (IOF). Funding for the translation of the Bulletin into Spanish has been provided by the 
Ministry of Environment of Spain. The opinions expressed in the Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD or other donors. Excerpts 
from the Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications with appropriate academic citation. For information on the Bulletin, including requests to provide reporting 
services, contact the Director of IISD Reporting Services at <kimo@iisd.org>, +1-646-536-7556 or 300 East 56th St., 11A, New York, New York 10022, United States of 
America. The ENB Team at AWG-KP 7 & AWG-LCA 5 can be contacted by e-mail at <kati@iisd.org>.

AWG-LCA 5 AND AWG-KP 7 HIGHLIGHTS: 
WEDNESDAY, 1 APRIL 2009

Throughout Wednesday, the AWG-LCA convened an 
in-session workshop on subparagraphs 1(b)(i) and 1(b)(ii) of 
the Bali Action Plan (mitigation by developed and developing 
countries respectively). The AWG-KP held contact groups on 
potential consequences and on legal matters.

AWG-LCA WORKSHOP
The AWG-LCA in-session workshop on the mitigation 

subparagraphs of the Bali Action Plan was chaired by Chair 
Zammit Cutajar. The morning session focused on developed 
country mitigation and the afternoon session on developing 
country mitigation.

DEVELOPED COUNTRIES: The G-77/CHINA stressed 
that Annex I parties should take economy-wide quantified 
emission reduction commitments that are ambitious, comparable 
and compatible with a long-term goal. He mentioned criteria 
such as historical responsibility and national capability. The 
EU called for a collective reduction of 30% below 1990 levels 
for developed countries. He suggested that non-Annex I parties 
with comparable levels of development consider similar 
commitments, and supported reviewing progress no later than 
in 2016. Highlighting recent science, AOSIS urged stabilization 
well below 350 ppm to avoid warming of over 1.5ºC, and 
supported 1990 as the base year. BOLIVIA identified the need 
for compensation for climate impacts in developing countries 
and penalties for non-compliance.

NEW ZEALAND presented an “Assessing Comparable 
Efforts Framework” to estimate mitigation costs for individual 
countries, based, inter alia, on mitigation potential and 
baseline emissions. SOUTH AFRICA proposed enhancing the 
compliance system through a new technical panel, and said 
comparable mitigation efforts should be considered by the 
COP and COP/MOP for compliance assessment to cover both 
Protocol parties and non-parties. INDIA called for agreement 
on an overall emission reduction target for all Annex I countries 
under the AWG-LCA, and proposed reductions of at least 40% 
from 1990. He said the AWG-LCA should also define quantified 
emission reduction commitments for Annex I countries that are 
not Protocol parties, and proposed basing MRV on Protocol 
Articles 5, 7 and 8 (methodological issues, reporting and 
review).

The US emphasized that there are multiple emission pathways 
to reach 450 ppm, and highlighted that the US takes a long-
term perspective through the development of a comprehensive 
national cap-and-trade programme with binding interim 
goals. He said several criteria can be considered in assessing 
“comparability of efforts,” including: per capita emissions; 
total cost; absolute value; difference from business-as-usual 

emissions; and multiple baselines. The US noted that if only the 
EU and the US were to reduce emissions by 80% by 2050, such 
actions would still result in 630 ppm, and stressed the need for 
additional efforts and consideration of the financial component. 
The US also specified that their mid-term goal would mean 
stabilizing emissions at 1990 levels by 2020.

TURKEY noted her country’s plans to adopt no-lose 
targets and NAMAs, and stressed differentiation among 
Annex I parties. CHINA highlighted increases in Annex I 
countries’ emissions since 1990 and high per capita emissions. 
He said “comparability of efforts” should consider policies 
and measures, actions and targets. He said targets should be 
quantified and binding, and that MRV should be conducted 
through national inventories and communications, and through 
the relevant Protocol procedures.

SUSTAINABLE MARKETS FOUNDATION called for 
considering the youth in a Copenhagen agreement, moral 
leadership, and targets for emission reductions which do not 
compromise the future.

DEVELOPING COUNTRIES: Presenters addressed various 
aspects of nationally appropriate mitigation actions (NAMAs), 
including: different options for a registry; NAMAs’ voluntary 
nature; sectoral NAMAs; the relationship between sustainable 
development and NAMAs; MRV for NAMAs and emission 
reductions; and support, through finance, technology and 
capacity building.

AOSIS said all developing countries should take mitigation 
action, and underscored that an essential benchmark of a future 
agreement must be the survival and continued viability of 
SIDS. The G-77/CHINA stated that the extent of developing 
country mitigation actions would be dependent on the level of 
support offered by developed countries. Stressing science-based 
emission reduction needs, the EU said developed countries 
must take the lead but cannot do it alone, underscoring that 
developing countries as a group must have a “level of ambition” 
to cut their emissions by 15-30% from the business-as-usual 
baseline by 2020. He invited “advanced developing countries” to 
propose low-carbon development strategies before Copenhagen.

The LDCs noted the failure of Annex I parties to comply with 
their emission targets. SOUTH AFRICA discussed specific steps 
for establishing a NAMA registry, including the registration of 
developing country actions enabled through their own resources 
and verification at the national level, and presented ideas on 
MRV for finance and technology transfer. JAPAN proposed 
an advisory group for sectoral cooperation to support MRV of 
mitigation actions by developing countries, and highlighted the 
utility of public and private sector collaboration in promoting 
support.

INDIA stressed that NAMAs are bottom-up voluntary actions, 
and said that an international registry would provide a way 
to translate national proposals into NAMAs. The REPUBLIC 



Thursday, 2 April 2009   Vol. 12 No. 401 Page 2
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

OF KOREA identified three types of NAMAs, those that: are 
voluntary; require external support; or generate carbon credits 
and could expand the scope of the carbon market beyond 
offsetting mechanisms.

SINGAPORE underscored challenges to small countries and 
the need for energy technologies, and the lack of recognition of 
voluntary mitigation measures already undertaken by developing 
countries. CHINA stressed that NAMAs should be coordinated 
with development and poverty eradication goals. He underscored 
technology and finance support to avoid “lock-in” effect in 
rapidly industrializing and urbanizing developing countries, 
and stressed the need for a mechanism to match NAMAs with 
support. SAUDI ARABIA described an integrated support and 
accreditation mechanism (SAM).

INDIGENOUS PEOPLES’ ORGANIZATIONS said REDD 
proposals must consider indigenous peoples’ rights. THIRD 
WORLD NETWORK said the enabling factors of finance and 
technology have to come first. FRIENDS OF THE EARTH 
highlighted developed countries’ contribution to a climate debt.

During the discussion, participants focused on issues, 
including: differences between NAMAs and the EU’s proposed 
low-carbon development strategies; the scientific basis for EU’s 
figures of 15-30% reductions for developing countries, and 
whether this goal reflects the level of ambition from developed 
countries to finance incremental costs; which countries the 
EU considers as “advanced developing countries”; the role of 
carbon markets in NAMAs; the role of the NAMA registry in 
controlling finance; “MRVing” of NAMAs; the role of public 
funding; the sustainable development component of NAMAs; 
development of indicators; linkages between carbon markets 
and REDD; the use of regional and international expertise for 
verification; whether the registry would focus on actions or 
countries; and recognition of existing actions by developing 
countries.

AWG-KP CONTACT GROUPS
LEGAL MATTERS: Chair Dovland proposed concentrating 

on his note on possible elements for amendments to the Protocol 
(FCCC/KP/AWG/2009/3). The G-77/CHINA highlighted the 
AWG-KP’s mandate and supported focusing on this so-called 
Chair’s “document 3.” CANADA, TUVALU and several Annex 
I parties supported also discussing the Chair’s other note, 
“document 4” (FCCC/KP/AWG/2009/4), which covers issues 
listed in paragraph 49 of the AWG-KP 6 conclusions.

AUSTRALIA, CANADA and others called for a coherent 
and consistent outcome from the two AWGs. JAPAN stressed 
that the post-2012 legal framework must bring together results 
from both tracks or his country may not be in a position to 
join it. He expressed interest in Australia’s submission (FCCC/
KP/AWG/2009/MISC.6/Add.2) that contains two options: a 
single new protocol, or a combination of a new protocol and 
an amended Kyoto Protocol. The G-77/CHINA stressed that 
these issues should be taken up under the AWG-LCA. Saying 
the AWG-LCA and the AWG-KP are independent processes, 
TUVALU favored two legal instruments coming out of 
Copenhagen. UGANDA and others supported holding a joint 
AWG-LCA and AWG-KP meeting.

The EU said the Protocol’s text should be kept in its current 
form to the greatest extent possible with the addition of some 
new text as needed. The G-77/CHINA and TUVALU supported 
focusing on the Protocol’s current text, and CHINA highlighted 
the limited and technical nature of the required changes.

AUSTRALIA noted that the amendment would possibly 
require complex provisions on its entry into force, linking it to 
the AWG-LCA’s outcome. The EU mentioned linking entry into 
force of new commitments to ratifications covering a certain 
proportion of emissions.

Several parties identified necessary amendments to Protocol 
Article 3 (Annex I emissions reductions). NEW ZEALAND, 
supported by ICELAND, proposed a new Annex C allowing 
flexibility in expressing commitments, but stressed that the 
intention was not to change the nature of commitments. 

TUVALU suggested a new annex allowing voluntary 
commitments by non-Annex I countries. AUSTRALIA said 
eligibility criteria for the flexibility mechanisms, as well as the 
recognition of REDD credits, may need to be considered. The 
EU noted its proposed new sectoral crediting mechanism, which 
would also require an amendment to the Protocol. The EU, 
AUSTRALIA, CANADA and others supported an amendment 
on privileges and immunities, and TUVALU proposed an 
amendment related to extending the share of proceeds. 
CANADA and others called for simplification of amendment 
procedures.

Delegates then discussed the Chair’s “document 4.” In 
response to the G-77/CHINA, Chair Dovland explained that 
the “document 4” intended to clarify the legal implications 
of various proposals, such as those related to the flexibility 
mechanisms, LULUCF, metrics and new gases, i.e., whether 
they require amendments to the Protocol or COP/MOP 
decisions. 

Chair Dovland will prepare a non-paper based on the 
“document 3” for Thursday morning to serve as a basis for 
developing a negotiating text. 

POTENTIAL CONSEQUENCES: The G-77/CHINA, 
with AUSTRALIA and SAUDI ARABIA, urged consideration 
of both consequences of response measures and remedies. 
SENEGAL stated that there was no need to wait for evidence 
before acting. SAUDI ARABIA called for taking precaution. 
The G-77/CHINA highlighted that knowledge of consequences 
already exists. SAUDI ARABIA noted that the impacts of 
hybrid climate policies are different from the impacts of 
single policies. ETHIOPIA suggested focusing on assessing 
consequences, reducing negative impacts to an insignificant 
level, and addressing residual negative impacts. CANADA 
supported recognition of positive and negative impacts. She 
said decisions on how to address consequences are a matter of 
national sovereignty, and the international response could only 
consist of recommendations of best practices or considerations. 

On reporting efforts to address potential consequences, the 
EU, with CANADA, noted that reporting requirements exist. 
NEW ZEALAND and others, opposed by ALGERIA and 
others, urged the use of national communications to identify 
consequences. BRAZIL stated that the national communications 
process was too slow and dependent upon the GEF’s support, 
and called for continuous reporting. SENEGAL highlighted 
limited capacity to prepare national communications. NIGERIA 
supported an independent assessment of consequences 
and highlighted difficulties in quantifying consequences. 
ARGENTINA argued for the consideration of regional 
consequences.

IN THE CORRIDORS
Most delegates spent their Wednesday attending a full-day 

workshop on mitigation by developed and developing countries 
that many felt was among the most important of all the AWG-
LCA workshops. Not surprisingly, the workshop discussions also 
dominated exchanges in the corridors. 

The general mood in the evening could be described as 
positive with many participants finding the event useful 
– although not exactly new. Given that some parties had 
clarified their positions, optimistic delegates reported seeing 
some possible elements of an agreement (such as the NAMA 
registry) beginning to take shape. “But if you are looking for big 
breakthroughs, you will probably have to wait until later in the 
year,” commented other negotiators, “and, in any case, the key 
political moves will likely take place somewhere outside this 
process.” Some of those thinking about the days, and possibly 
months, ahead seemed slightly worried about rumors over major 
differences within a large bloc of countries, concerned that such 
rifts could make it difficult to move forward on various issues. 

Those brave enough to contemplate life beyond Copenhagen 
were heard wondering whether they should plan excursions to 
Machu Pichu or Teotihuacan in 2010, as the candidacy for COP 
16 is now said to be down to Mexico City or Peru. 



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


